#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC11-1290**

Lower Tribunal No. 88-CF-689

# BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE, Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAUL KALIL Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 174114

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, Santa Rosa County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence under consideration.

On December 14, 1988, a Grand Jury in the Circuit Court of Santa Rosa County, Florida, indicted Mr. Pace for the first degree murder and armed robbery of Floyd Covington (R. 1132-33). Mr. Pace pleaded not guilty to the charges (R. 1252). Mr. Pace's guilt phase began on August 23, 1989 (R. 532). The jury found him guilty on all counts<sup>1</sup> (R. 1210).

A penalty phase proceeding was conducted on August 26, 1989 (R. 1030). The State presented the following evidence in aggravation: a 1981 judgment for strong armed robbery (R. 1037), and the testimony of Mr. Pace's parole officer, who stated that Mr. Pace was on parole for robbery at the time of the murder (R. 1038-9).

The defense presented several lay witnesses at the penalty phase. A correctional officer from the jail testified with regard to Mr. Pace's exemplary behavior while awaiting trial (R. 1039-41). Mr. Pace's high school football coach

1

Mr. Pace's defense team consisted of three individuals: Samuel Hall, Randall Etheridge, and Jim Martin. Mr. Hall was the first chair attorney and was responsible for the penalty phase. Mr. Etheridge was the second chair attorney and was responsible for the guilt phase. Mr. Martin was the investigator who assisted Mr. Pace's attorneys (PCR. 2008, 2015).

testified that Mr. Pace was a good athlete, that he was never a discipline problem, and that he was generally quiet and hardworking (R. 1044-5).

The defense also presented the testimony of Robert Settles, Mr. Pace's vocational teacher in high school (R. 1051). Mr. Settles left his teaching position and started a truss manufacturing business (R. 1051). He hired Mr. Pace to work cutting trusses on a saw (R. 1051-2). Mr. Settles considered Mr. Pace to be naturally gifted at this work (R. 1052). He thought Mr. Pace had a lot of capabilities but did not always live up to his potential (R. 1052-4).

Eleanor Rich, Mr. Pace's aunt, testified that Mr. Pace was a loving, caring person (R. 1059). When Mr. Pace was around 14 years old, his stepfather, Harvey Rich, left the family for over a year (R. 1059-60). During that time, Mr. Pace assumed more responsibilities caring for his three younger siblings (R. 1060).

Mr. Pace's mother, Lillian Rich, testified that Mr. Pace never knew his real father, but that his stepfather treated him as he did his own children (R. 1065). When Mr. Pace's stepfather left the family, this may have had a negative effect on him, since he admired his stepfather and spent time with him when he ran a service station (R. 1066). Mr. Pace always tried to support his family including providing money when he began working (R. 1066-7).

The defense presented no expert testimony at Mr. Pace's penalty phase.

The trial judge instructed the jury on six aggravating factors: 1) the crime was committed while the defendant was under a sentence of imprisonment; 2) the defendant had a previous conviction for a violent felony (a robbery); 3) the homicide was committed during the course of a robbery; 4) the crime was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest; 5) the crime was committed for financial gain; 6) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R. 1120-21). By a seven-to-five vote, the jury recommend a sentence of death for the murder of Mr. Covington (R. 1211).

On November 16, 1989, Circuit Judge Ben Gordon adjudged Mr. Pace guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and 15 years imprisonment for the robbery (R. 1238-43). In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Mr. Pace had a previous conviction for a violent felony, a robbery in 1982; (2) Mr. Pace was on parole at the time of the homicide; and (3) the homicide was committed during the course of a robbery (R. 1234-45). The court found no mitigating circumstances (R. 1236-37).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Pace's conviction and the death sentence. *Pace v. State*, 596 So. 2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 1992). Justices Overton, Barkett, and Kogan concurred with the conviction but dissented, without an

opinion, as to the death sentence. *See id.* The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 5, 1992. *Pace v. Florida*, 113 S. Ct. 244 (1992).

On October 11, 1993, Mr. Pace filed a motion for postconviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Mr. Pace amended his motion. After a hearing pursuant to *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(c) (PCR. 1192), the circuit court ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held on several claims including Mr. Pace's claims that the State failed to disclose exculpatory or impeachment evidence and ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to perform an adequate investigation, failure to properly cross-examine certain witnesses; failure to call available witnesses, failure to object to improper prosecutorial comments in guilt and penalty phase closing arguments; and failure to investigate and present mitigating evidence of Mr. Pace's mental health and difficult childhood (PCR. 1192-1203). Following the evidentiary hearing, the court denied relief.

Mr. Pace appealed the denial of relief and simultaneously filed a petition for a writ of state habeas corpus. This Court affirmed the denial of postconviction relief and denied the habeas corpus petition, *Pace v. State*, 854 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2003), and denied rehearing. Mr. Pace filed a writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied. *Pace v. Florida*, 124 S. Ct. 1155 (2004).

On September 27, 2004, Mr. Pace filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Pensacola Division. The Honorable Robert L. Hinkle, Chief United States District Judge, denied Mr. Pace's Petition but granted a Certificate of Appealability with respect to whether Mr. Pace was denied effective assistance of counsel in connection with the failure to develop and present sentencing mitigation evidence (including lay and expert testimony) relating to substance abuse. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's denial of habeas relief. *Pace v. McNeil*, 556 F.3d 1211 (11th Cir. 2009).

On November 26, 2010, Mr. Pace a successive motion to vacate premised on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) (PCR2. 1-37). The State responded (PCR2. 44-110). The circuit court conducted a case management conference by telephone on January 11, 2011 (PCR2. 138-157). The State prepared a proposed order denying relief, to which Mr. Pace objected (PCR2. 127-131). On March 23, 2011, the circuit court entered its order denying relief (PCR2. 133-136). This appeal follows.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Pace's *Porter* claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980). *Porter* establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Pace's claims that he did not receive a reliable trial and sentencing proceeding was premised upon this Court's case law misreading and misapplying *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) and *Brady v. Maryland*, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963).

# STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mr. Pace presents several issues which involve mixed questions of law and fact. Thus, a de novo standard applies. *Bruno v. State*, 807 So. 2d 55, 61-62 (Fla. 2001).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE U.S. SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN *PORTER V. MCCOLLUM* DEMONSTRATES THAT THIS COURT FAILED TO CONDUCT A PROPER PREJUDICE ANALYSIS OF MR. PACE'S POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER *STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON* AND THE STATE'S WITHHOLDING OF MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE UNDER *BRADY V. MARYLAND*.

#### A. Porter v. McCollum

In *Porter v. McCollum*, the United States Supreme Court agreed with the district court's grant of relief within the context of the strict standards of the Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), which limits the circumstances under which a defendant may obtain relief in federal habeas proceedings.<sup>2</sup> Even in the context of strict AEDPA deference to state court findings, the Supreme Court determied that:

<sup>2</sup> Under the AEDPA, any claim that was adjudicated on the merits must be reviewed in accordance with certain limitations:

- (d) An application for a writ of habeas corpus on behalf of a person in custody pursuant to the judgment of a State court shall not be granted with respect to any claim that was adjudicated on the merits in State court proceedings unless the adjudication of that claim-
  - (1) resulted in a decision that was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law, as

The Florida Supreme Court's decision that Porter was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to conduct a thorough—or even cursory—investigation is unreasonable. The Florida Supreme Court either did not consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence adduced in the postconviction hearing.

Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447, 454-55 (2009). Porter was not simply a case in which the high court merely disagreed with the outcome or even a case where the Supreme Court decided that this Court's decision was just wrong. Rather, the United States Supreme Court held that the decision was so unreasonable that the usual concerns of federalism, as codified by the AEDPA, were not sufficient to allow the death sentence to stand.

In *Strickland v. Washington*, the United States Supreme Court found that, in order to ensure a fair trial, the Sixth Amendment requires that defense counsel provide effective assistance to defendants by "bring[ing] to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). Where defense counsel renders deficient performance, a new resentencing is required if that deficient performance prejudiced the defendant

determined by the Supreme Court of the United States; or

(2) resulted in a decision that was based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.

28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).

such that confidence is undermined in the outcome. *Id.* at 694. To prove prejudice, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

When a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer—including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence—would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

#### *Id.* at 695.

The search for that reasonable probability must be conducted in a particular manner. Courts must "engage with [mitigating evidence]," *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 454, in considering whether that evidence might have added up to something that would have mattered to the jury. Courts have a "'[] duty to search for constitutional error with painstaking care [which] is never more exacting than it is in a capital case." *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 422 (1995) (citing *Burger v. Kemp*, 483 U.S. 776, 785 (1987)). In performing the duty to search with painstaking care for a constitutional violation by engaging with mitigating evidence, courts must "speculate' as to the effect" of non-presented evidence. *Sears v. Upton*, 130 S. Ct. 3266, 3266-67 (2010). The *Porter/Kyles/Sears* conception of the *Strickland* prejudice inquiry requires courts to *engage with* mitigating evidence and

painstakingly search for a constitutional violation by speculating as to how the mitigating evidence might have changed the outcome of the penalty phase. It is clear that the focus of a court's prejudice inquiry must be to try to find a constitutional violation. The duty to search for a constitutional violation with painstaking care is a function of the fact that a constitutional violation in a capital case is a matter of such profound repugnance that it must be sought out with vigilance. Courts must search for it carefully, not dismiss the possibility of it based on information that suggests it isn't there. And looking for a reasonable possibility that a violation did not occur reverses the standard of the inquiry, because if a court simply focuses on all the ways the non-presented evidence might reasonably have not mattered, it is not answering the question of whether it reasonably may have. If a court simply speculates as to how a constitutional violation might not have occurred, it is not performing its duty to engage with mitigating evidence to painstakingly speculate as to how a violation might have occurred.

## B. Mr. Pace's *Porter* claim is cognizable under *Witt* and rule 3.851

The *Porter* decision establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Pace's claims that he did not receive a reliable sentencing proceeding was premised upon this Court's case law which misread and misapplied *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such

Porter constitutes a change in law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Pace's Porter claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. See Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980). A Rule 3.851 motion is the appropriate vehicle to present Mr. Pace's claim premised upon the change in Florida law that Porter represents. Hall v. State, 541 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989) (holding that claims under Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), a case in which the United States Supreme Court found that this Court had misread and misapplied Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), should be raised in Rule 3.850 motions).

The circuit court denied Mr. Pace's *Porter* claim, finding the motion to be "untimely, successive, procedurally barred and unauthorized under Rule 3.851(d)(1), (2), (e)(2), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure." (PCR2. 135). However, in *Witt v. State*, this Court determined when changes in the law could be raised retroactively in postconviction proceedings, finding that "[t]he doctrine of finality should be abridged only when a more compelling objective appears, such as ensuring fairness and uniformity in individual adjudications." 387 So. 2d at 925. This Court recognized that "a sweeping change of law can so drastically alter the substantive or procedural underpinnings of a final conviction and sentence that the machinery of post-conviction relief is necessary to avoid individual instances of obvious injustice." *Id.* "Considerations of fairness and uniformity make it very difficult to justify depriving a person of his liberty or his life, under process no

longer considered acceptable and no longer applied to indistinguishable cases." *Id.* (quotations omitted).

As "the concept of federalism clearly dictates that [states] retain the authority to determine which changes of law will be cognizable under [their] post-conviction relief machinery," *id.* at 928, this Court declined to follow the line of United States Supreme Court cases addressing the issue, which it characterized as a "relatively unsatisfactory body of law." *Id.* at 926 (quotations omitted). The United States Supreme Court recently held that a state may indeed give a decision by the United States Supreme Court broader retroactive application than the federal retroactive analysis requires. *Danforth v. Minnesota*, 552 U.S. 264 (2008).

While referring to the need for finality in capital cases on the one hand, citing Justice White's dissent in *Godfrey v. Georgia* for the proposition that the United States Supreme Court in *Godfrey* endorsed the previously rejected argument that "government, created and run as it must be by humans, is inevitably incompetent to administer [the death penalty]," 446 U.S 420, 455 (1980), the Court found on the other hand that capital punishment "[u]niquely . . . connotes special concern for individual fairness because of the possible imposition of a penalty as unredeeming as death." *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 926.

The Witt Court recognized two "broad categories" of cases which will qualify as fundamentally significant changes in constitutional law: (1) "those

changes of law which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties" and (2) "those changes of law which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of *Stovall* and *Linkletter*." *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 929. The Court identified under *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293 (1967), and *Linkletter v. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618 (1965), three considerations for determining retroactivity: "(a) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (b) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule." *Id.* at 926.

In addition to limiting the types of cases that can create retroactive changes in law, *Witt* limits which courts can make such changes to this Court and the United States Supreme Court. *Id.* at 930. This Court summarized its holding in *Witt* to be that a change in law can be raised in postconviction if it: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance . . . ." *Id.* at 931.

After enunciating the *Witt* standard for determining which judicial decisions warranted retroactive application, this Court had occasion to demonstrate the manner in which the *Witt* standard was to be applied shortly after the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987). In *Hitchcock*, the United States Supreme Court had issued a writ of certiorari to the

Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals to review its decision denying federal habeas relief to a petitioner under a sentence of death in Florida. In its decision reversing the Eleventh Circuit's denial of habeas relief, the United States Supreme Court found that the death sentence rested upon this Court's misreading of Lockett v. Ohio and that the death sentence stood in violation of the Eighth Amendment. Shortly after the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in Hitchcock, a death sentenced individual with an active death warrant argued to this Court that he was entitled to the benefit of the decision in *Hitchcock*. Applying the analysis adopted in Witt, this Court agreed and ruled that Hitchcock constituted a change in law of fundamental significance that could properly be presented in a successor Rule 3.850 motion. Riley v. Wainwright, 517 So. 2d 656, 660 (Fla. 1987); Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987); Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069, 1070 (Fla. 1987); *Delap v. Dugger*, 513 So. 2d 659, 660 (Fla. 1987); Demps v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1987).

In *Lockett v. Ohio*, the United States Supreme Court had held in 1978 that mitigating factors in a capital case cannot be limited such that sentencers are precluded from considering "any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense." 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978). This Court interpreted *Lockett* to require a capital defendant merely to have had the opportunity to present any mitigation evidence. This Court decided that *Lockett* did

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