IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-1290

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Pace v. McNeil, 556 F.3d 1211 (11th Cir. 2009).

Pace petitioned the United States Supreme Court to review the Eleventh Circuit's decision in his case. On October 5, 2009, the United States Supreme Court denied Pace's petition.

Pace v. McNeil, 130 S.Ct. 190 (2009).

On November 30, 2010, Pace filed a successive motion for post-conviction relief. Pace raised two claims, an ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim and a Brady claim. Pace had raised both of these claims in his initial post-

conviction proceedings and this Court had rejected these claims on appeal. Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 177-179 (Fla. 2003).

Before the collateral court, Pace claimed that he was entitled to file a successive motion because there was "new law" from the United States Supreme Court. Pace pointed to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). Pace alleged Porter stands for the proposition that the Florida Supreme Court misapplied Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) in disposing of Pace's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Pace averred that Porter is new law that repudiates the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland jurisprudence in general. (1SPCR 1-40). On December 13, 2010, the State filed an answer to Pace's successive motion. (1SPCR 44-108).

On January 11, 2011, the collateral court held a case management conference (Huff hearing). (1SPCR 124). On March 23, 2011, the collateral court denied Pace's successive motion. (1SPCR 133-136). The Court found Pace's motion untimely, successive, procedurally barred and without merit. The Court ruled, in pertinent part:

..Defendant bases the instant motion on the case of Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct 447 (2009) and alleges that Porter constitutes a change in the law that should be applied retroactively; therefore Defendant's Porter claim is cognizable in a successive motion for post-conviction relief. Defendant is incorrect in his assertion.

Pursuant to rule 3.851(f)(5)(B), a successive motion for postconviction relief may be denied “[i]f the motion, files, and records conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief.” The Court finds that the subject motion is untimely, successive, procedurally barred, and unauthorized under Rule 3.851(d)(10)(2)(e)(2), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Contrary to Defendant’s allegations, Porter does not establish a new fundamental right to be applied retroactively.FN7 Porter is the United States Supreme Court’s application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), to the particular facts of that case. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion is not based on any newly established fundamental constitutional right that “has been held to apply retroactively” and does not meet any exception to the time and successiveness bars espoused in Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

FN7: As Porter is not considered a new rule of law, Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980) is inapplicable.

Arguendo, even if Defendant’s claims were properly before this Court, Defendant would not be entitled to relief. In the instant case, unlike Porter, the trial court and the Supreme Court of Florida specifically found that trial defense counsel’s performance was not deficient. See Pace v. State, 854 So.2d 167, 173-177 (Fla. 2003). Consequently, neither court reached the prejudice prong of the Strickland analysis when denying, and affirming the denial of, postconviction relief. The extensive analysis of Strickland’s prejudice prong in Porter would in no way affect Defendant’s case, as the prejudice prong need not be considered when the deficiency prong is not met. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

(1SPCR 133-136).

Pace appealed. On August 29, 2011, Pace served his initial brief. This is the State’s answer brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The collateral court correctly found that Pace's successive motion is time barred. The successive motion, filed some 17 years after Pace's convictions and sentences became final, did not fall within any exception to the one year limitation period set forth in Rule 3.851(d)(1), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Although Pace purports to rely on an exception to the one year limitation period that would allow a successive and out of time motion to be filed if it were based on a newly established constitutional right that had already been declared retroactive at the time Pace filed his motion, Pace met neither prerequisite. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) did not establish a new constitutional right nor is it new law. Instead, Porter is a case in which the United States Supreme Court applied its 1984 decision in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) to the unique facts of Mr. Porter's case. Even if Porter were new law, the decision in Porter had not already been declared retroactive at the time Pace filed his motion. Accordingly, the collateral court correctly ruled Pace's claim was not appropriately or timely brought in a successive motion for post-conviction relief.

The collateral court also correctly found Pace's claims were procedurally barred. In Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123, 1129

(Fla. 2009), this Court has previously rejected a similar attempt, after several new decisions of the United States Supreme Court were issued, to re-litigate ineffective assistance of counsel claims already raised and rejected in previous post-conviction proceedings.

Additionally, the collateral court correctly found Pace's claim was without merit because nothing in Porter, a case in which the United States Supreme Court focused on Strickland's prejudice prong, would affect the Florida Supreme Court's 2003 rejection of Pace's ineffective assistance of counsel claims on the grounds that counsel's performance was not deficient. In this Court's 2003 decision in Pace, this Court never addressed Strickland's prejudice prong. Accordingly, Porter does not control in any event.

Finally, even if this Court were to look to Strickland's prejudice prong and apply it to the merits of Pace's case in accord with Porter, Pace would not be entitled to any relief. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Porter turned on two powerful pieces of evidence that Porter presented at a post-conviction evidentiary hearing; significant mental mitigation and Porter's heroic combat service during the Korean War. Pace had neither. In comparison to Porter, Pace had no military service and spent his time down at the "bottom" smoking crack and hanging out with convicted felons. Pace's only time in

uniform was in a prison uniform. The collateral court properly denied Pace's claim and this Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING PACE'S SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF.

In this claim, Pace seeks to re-litigate two claims; trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase of his capital trial and a Brady claim, both of which this Court rejected, some eight years ago, in Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 173-174 (Fla. 2003). Pace suggests he is, nevertheless, allowed to raise these same two claims again because of the United States Supreme Court decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009).

The collateral court properly denied Pace's successive motion for post-conviction relief. This is so for several reasons.

First, Pace's motion was untimely. Pace chose to raise his claims in a successive motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.¹ Having chosen that avenue, Pace is required to comply with the rule.

¹ Pace's latest motion is successive because Pace already had litigated one full round of post-conviction claims that were denied on the merits and then affirmed on appeal.

Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure sets forth a one year limitation period in which a capital defendant may file a motion for post-conviction relief. The period begins to run on the day a defendant's conviction becomes final. *Rule 3.851(d)(1)(A), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure*. Pace's convictions and sentence became final on October 5, 1992 when the United States Supreme Court denied Pace's petition for certiorari review of his direct appeal proceedings. Pace v. Florida, 506 U.S. 885 (1992).

Rule 3.851(d) provides that no (emphasis mine) motion for post-conviction relief may be filed or considered if it is filed outside the one year time limitation unless it falls within one of three narrow exceptions. One of these, and the one Pace purported to invoke before the collateral court below, is found in Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. This exception provides that a defendant may file an out of time motion for post-conviction relief if the claim is based on a newly established retroactive fundamental constitutional right.²

On the face of the rule, there are two prerequisites to filing an out of time motion for post-conviction relief: (1) a

² For the most part, a new fundamental constitutional right for the purposes of Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), comes as a result of new case law from the United States Supreme Court. (e.g. Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the case in which the United States Supreme Court determined that a person who commits a murder before the age of 18 cannot be executed).

new fundamental constitutional right has been established and (2) the new fundamental constitutional right has already been held to be retroactive to cases on collateral review. Pace's Porter claim is untimely because Pace can meet neither prerequisite of Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) to overcome the one year limitation period imposed by Rule 3.851.

First, Porter is not a case that establishes a new fundamental constitutional right. Indeed, Pace admits this is the case. (IB 17). The "constitutional right" at issue in Porter is a defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel. Long before Porter, the fundamental constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel was established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Likewise, in Strickland, the United States Supreme Court outlined a two-pronged test to be applied in analyzing such claims. On its face Porter does not, and does not even purport to, establish a new constitutional right.

In Porter, the United States Supreme Court, *per curiam*, reversed the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Citing to Strickland v. Washington, the United States Supreme Court found it was objectively unreasonable for the Florida Supreme Court to conclude there was no reasonable probability Porter's death sentence would have been different if the sentencing judge and jury had heard the significant mitigation evidence that Porter's

counsel neither uncovered nor presented; most importantly Porter's compelling combat service in Korea during the Korean conflict for which he was decorated. See Reed v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16 (11th Cir. 2010)(noting that "the crux of counsel's deficient performance in Porter was the failure to investigate and present Porter's compelling military history.").

Before Porter, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel claims were governed by a two-pronged test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). After Porter, a claim that counsel was ineffective in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel remains governed by a two-pronged test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

Even a cursory reading of Porter reveals that the United States Supreme Court changed nothing about Strickland. Nor did Porter establish the Florida Supreme Court's analysis of Pace's claims was incorrect. Instead, the United States Supreme Court ruled, simply, that both the collateral court and this Court got it wrong in Porter's individual case.

Even if Pace could show Porter was "new law", which he cannot, Pace's motion would still be untimely because Pace cannot show that Porter has already been held retroactive to cases already final at the time Porter was decided. Rule

3.851(d)(2)(B) provides an exception to the one year limitation period when "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." The use of the term "has been held" is significant. This language means that in order to file an out of time successive motion for post-conviction relief, the new law upon which the defendant stakes his claim must have already been declared retroactive. Chandler v. Crosby, 916 So.2d 728 (Fla. 2005)(Wells, J. concurring specially)(noting that an untimely motion filed pursuant to Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) must assert the new constitutional right upon which he relies has been held to apply retroactively in a case decided before [emphasis mine] the motion was filed in order for the motion to be considered timely filed); Sims v. State, 753 So.2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000)(use of past tense in a rule is not happenstance, instead use of the past tense means something has already happened). See also Tyler v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656 (2001) (holding that use of past tense in federal statute regarding successive federal habeas petitions requires Court to hold new rule retroactive before it can be relied upon).³

³ A defendant whose litigation is already in successive post-conviction land is not without remedy if his claim is truly premised on a new constitutional right that was not established until after his first round of post-conviction litigation is complete. If the new law is declared retroactive, a defendant

Pace has not alleged, nor can he show, that Porter had already been declared to be retroactive by the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court, or indeed any Court, at the time he filed his motion. As such, the collateral court correctly concluded Pace's motion was time barred.⁴

Pace's successive post-conviction claims are also procedurally barred. Pace's claims are procedurally barred because Pace raised, and this Court rejected, these same claims in Pace's initial post-conviction proceedings. Pace v. State, 854 So.2d 157, 172-179 (Fla. 2003).

can then file a successive motion for post-conviction relief and the collateral court may properly consider his claim. Retroactivity is only properly litigated, however, in a post-conviction motion filed within the one year period set forth in Rule 3.851(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

⁴ Pace attempts to persuade this Court to apply this Court's decision in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980) and declare Porter retroactive. (IB 10-17). However, a Witt analysis is not appropriate when considering a successive motion for post-conviction relief filed outside the one year time limitations. This is so because to file a post-conviction motion outside the one year limitation period of Rule 3.851(d)(1), the new right has to already been declared retroactive to cases on collateral review at the time the motion is filed. *Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure*. Even if this were not the case, Witt does not help Pace in his cause because a Witt analysis is only appropriate when new law has been established. Porter is not new law. Porter merely applied Strickland to the facts of Porter's case. See e.g. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1128 (Fla. 2009) (rejecting a similar claim of retroactivity and concluding that the United States Supreme Court in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000) did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland).

Pace avers he may re-litigate these claims in light of the Porter decision. Pace is mistaken. This Court has already rejected a similar argument in another case. Marek v. State, 8 So.3d at 1129 (ruling that Marek's attempt to re-litigate his ineffective assistance of counsel claim was procedurally barred because Marek had already raised, and the Florida Supreme Court rejected, this claim in an earlier post-conviction proceeding and additionally rejecting Marek's suggestion he could re-litigate the claim in light of several recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court). As it did in Marek, this Court should conclude Pace's Brady claim and ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim are procedurally barred.

Finally, this Court may affirm the collateral court's order denying Pace's Porter motion because it is singularly without merit. This is true for two reasons. First, even assuming the decision in Porter was broader than the facts of Porter itself (which it isn't), Porter did nothing to alter this Court's analysis of Pace's claims.

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